**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

JAN 21 1992

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By   
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RUFUS E. STEVENS,

Appellant,

vs.

Case No. 78,031

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

---

*ON APPEAL FROM A SENTENCE OF DEATH IMPOSED  
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT, FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,  
IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA*

**APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF**

Oren Root Jr.  
Patrick M. Wall, Esq.  
A Professional Corporation  
36 West 44th Street  
New York, New York 10036  
(212) 840-7188

Attorney for Appellant

Patrick M. Wall  
Of Counsel

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal is from an April 26, 1991 sentence of death imposed upon Appellant Rufus E. Stevens by Hon. Michael R. Weatherby, of the Fourth Judicial Circuit Court, Duval County. The proceeding appealed from was conducted pursuant to this Court's decision reversing Stevens' prior death sentence and ordering a resentencing. Stevens v. State, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989). The resentencing proceedings were conducted solely before Judge Weatherby, the trial jury having recommended a sentence of life imprisonment. The principal issue on appeal is the court below's failure to give appropriate weight to that life recommendation and to apply the *Tedder* standard so often enunciated by this Court.

This Court has jurisdiction of this appeal. Art. V, §3(b)(1), Fla. Const.



## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE'

Stevens was arrested on March 20, 1979 for the murder one week earlier of Eleanor Kathy Tolin, and he and Gregory Scott Engle were indicted for murder in the first degree (R 1).<sup>2</sup> Stevens was convicted of that crime on July 20, 1979 (TT 1190). The next day the jury recommended that he be sentenced to life imprisonment (TI' 1192). On August 17, 1979 Hon. John E. Santora, Jr., the trial and original sentencing judge, ignored the jury's recommendation and imposed a sentence of death (TT 1298-1307).

On direct appeal this Court affirmed both the conviction and the sentence. *Stevens v. State*, 419 So. 2d 1058 (Fla. 1982). Justice McDonald, joined by Justice Overton, dissented as to the sentence, stating at 1065:

The jury could have concluded that Stevens participated in the robbery and rape, but that Engle was the sole perpetrator of the homicide. There was, therefore, a rational basis for the jury's recommendation and it should have been followed by the trial judge. (Emphasis added.)

Review by the United States Supreme Court was denied on February 22, 1983. *Stevens v. Florida*, 459 U.S. 1228 (1983).<sup>3</sup>

---

<sup>1</sup>A comprehensive statement of all the motions and other proceedings in this matter would be unduly lengthy. We therefore give the Court an overview of the procedural history of this cause. Other proceedings will be discussed below when relevant to a particular argument.

<sup>2</sup>Parenthetical references preceded by "R" are to the appropriate pages of the record on appeal for the instant matter (Case No. 78,031); those preceded by "T" are to the stenographer's transcript in the instant appeal; those preceded by "TT" are to the stenographer's transcript of the trial proceedings (Case No. 57,738); those preceded by "PCT" are to the stenographer's transcript of the post-conviction proceedings (Case No. 68,581); those preceded by "DRE" are to the appropriate exhibit and page numbers of defendant's resentencing exhibits; and those preceded by "DSHE" are to the appropriate exhibit and page numbers of defendant's exhibits at the suppression hearing conducted during the resentencing proceedings. References to testimony will be preceded by the name of the witness. In that regard, "C. Stevens" refers to Clifford Stevens, Rufus' brother; "R. Stevens" to Robert Stevens, another brother; "L. Stevens" to Leonard Stevens, Rufus' son; and "Stevens" to Rufus Stevens,

<sup>3</sup>Engle was also convicted of murder in the first degree and sentenced to death by Judge Santora. Engle's trial and sentencing proceedings were conducted separately, pursuant to his

a

On March 22, 1984 Stevens filed a motion seeking post-conviction relief. Following an evidentiary hearing Judge Santora denied that motion. On appeal this Court affirmed the denial of the post-conviction motion with respect to Stevens' conviction, but reversed with respect to his sentence on the ground that counsel had been constitutionally ineffective. The sentence was vacated and a resentencing was ordered before a new judge, who was to give Stevens the benefit of the trial jury's recommendation of life imprisonment. *Stevens v. State*, 552 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 1989).<sup>5</sup>

During the more than five and one-half years that Stevens' post-conviction motion and the appeal therefrom were pending, an application for clemency was pending first before Governor Graham and then Governor Martinez. No death warrant has ever been signed for Stevens' execution.

On the remand, now-Chief Judge Santora assigned Judge Weatherby to this matter. The prosecution indicated that it intended to proffer the trial testimony as its primary proof of aggravation. Stevens moved to suppress various portions of that testimony as being violative of the Federal and State Constitutions (R 95-113). An evidentiary hearing was conducted on November 13-15, 1990. On March 6, 1991 Judge Weatherby denied the motion to suppress in its entirety (R 224-26).

With respect to the resentencing hearing on March 12, 1991, the prosecution

---

rights under *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968). On direct appeal, this Court affirmed his conviction but vacated his death sentence. *Engle v. State*, 438 So. 2d 803 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 465 U.S. 1074 (1984). Judge Santora resentenced Engle to death. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed that sentence. *Engle v. State*, 510 So. 2d 881 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 924 (1988). Most recently, this Court denied Engle's petition for habeas corpus and affirmed the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief, but extended the statute of limitations for the filing of any claims he saw fit to raise upon the release (ordered by this Court) of the law enforcement files pertaining to his prosecution, *Engle v. Dugger*, 576 So. 2d 696 (Fla. 1991).

Trial counsel also handled Stevens' direct appeal to this Court. Since then, Stevens has been represented by present counsel --- first on a pro bono basis and, since the resentencing was ordered, on an appointed basis.

<sup>5</sup>The State's petition for rehearing was denied on December 19, 1989.

called one witness (T 465-504), as well as relying on the trial testimony (TT 12-89, 438-903, 920-95). Stevens called 12 witnesses (T 302-16, 410-43, 512-55; R 415-651<sup>6</sup>), introduced 20 exhibits, as well as relying on the transcripts of three witnesses who testified at the 1984-85 hearing on the motion for post-conviction relief (R 356-400; and certain portions of PCT 895-929<sup>7</sup>).

On April 26, 1991 Judge Weatherby imposed a new sentence of death on Stevens (R 303-07; T 681-92). The sentencing court found four aggravating circumstances, no statutory mitigating circumstances and 16 non-statutory mitigating circumstances, which it grouped into six categories. Only one of those six categories --- Stevens' deprived childhood' --- was found to be "so out of the ordinary as to [be] consider[ed] by this Court as to mitigate against a sentence of death" (R 307). Judge Weatherby concluded that (R 307):

... [the] non-statutory mitigating circumstances presented by the defense are insufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances established and that no reasonable person could conclude otherwise.

The only mention in the sentencing order of the jury's recommendation of life imprisonment was a statement in the opening paragraph (R 303) that this Court "affirmed" that recommendation in its decision vacating the original death sentence and

---

<sup>6</sup>By agreement among the parties and Judge Weatherby, nine of the defendant's witnesses --- all of whom lived in Kentucky --- were deposed in Lexington, Kentucky, in January of 1991 and the transcript of their testimony was considered by Judge Weatherby as if the witnesses had testified before him.

<sup>7</sup>The specific portions submitted to Judge Weatherby for consideration were 895, lines 4-12; 901, line 11 to 902, line 5; 903, lines 3 to 20; 904, line 23 to 905, line 9; 911, line 23 to 916, line 16; 917, line 12 to 918, line 19; 919, line 24 to 923, line 1; and 927, line 25 to 929, line 20.

<sup>8</sup>In discussing the compelling evidence of Stevens' deprived childhood, Judge Weatherby commented that that mitigating evidence was "insufficient to explain or excuse the crime for which he [Stevens] stands convicted" (R 307).

remanding for resentence,

### **III. STATEMENT OF FACTS<sup>9</sup>**

#### **A. The Prosecution's Case**

On the evening of March 12, 1979 Stevens and Nathaniel Hamilton were barhopping and riding around in Stevens' car on Jacksonville's Westside. Stevens **was** drinking heavily, consuming 14 or 15 beers between 8 p.m. and 2 a.m. During the course of the evening Stevens suggested that they rob the motel where he worked. Hamilton declined the suggestion. Stevens then suggested that they rob a Majik Market convenience store. Hamilton demurred because he **and** Stevens lived nearby and were **known** in the neighborhood (Hamilton: TT 565-70).<sup>10</sup>

About 2 a.m. Stevens and Hamilton picked up Engle from his house. Stevens suggested to Engle that they rob the Majik Market and Engle agreed. Shortly thereafter, Hamilton was dropped off at his home (Hamilton: TT 570-71).

At the Majik Market Engle robbed Tolin at knifepoint of \$67.77." Stevens and Engle then took Tolin in the car with them so that she would not be able to call the police immediately. After driving to a deserted location Engle and Stevens told her to get undressed and each raped her in the back seat of the car. After the rapes Tolin got

---

We focus in the statement of facts primarily on evidence relevant to aggravation and mitigation ... guilt or innocence not being an issue on this appeal. Various additional facts relevant to specific points we make below are discussed in connection with the arguments to which they are relevant.

<sup>10</sup>At the resentencing hearing Hamilton, called **as** the prosecution's sole witness, testified that, while Stevens and he were riding around, Stevens proposed killing the convenience store clerk after kidnapping her so **as** to prevent their identification (Hamilton: T 466-67). Judge Weatherby rejected that testimony **as** incredible in light of the fact that, despite being a critical prosecution witness at Stevens' trial (**and** Engle's), Hamilton never so testified at any of the proceedings held in 1979 (**T 678**).

<sup>11</sup>Engle subsequently gave Stevens **\$8** or **\$9** of the robbery proceeds (Parmenter: 'IT 920-21).

dressed outside the car and then ran into the **woods**. Engle chased her. Fifteen or 20 minutes later Engle returned dragging Tolin's lifeless body, which he put in the trunk of Stevens' car. They drove to another deserted location and left the body there where it was found the next day (DRE4 8-28; Blalock: TT 476-78; Imler: TT 480).

The medical examiner found the causes **of** death to be strangulation with some **sort** of cord and three stab wounds to the back. Additionally, Tolin's vagina received a long internal laceration from a foreign object (other than a **sexual** organ) while she was still alive (Floro: TT 522-40).

**Six** days after the homicide, Hamilton was in a car, the driver of which was stopped for driving under the influence. Hamilton subsequently told **the** police **that** Engle **and** Stevens had **been** involved in Tolin's murder. He stated that Stevens had told him that Engle's knife was the murder weapon. **He** also said that Engle had told him that the clerk had been taken out of the store and into the country to get her away from a telephone and that "Rufus went crazy and started saying she's going to identify us" (Hamilton: TT 573-78; Godbee: TT 655-59).

**As** a result of the information received from Hamilton, Engle and Stevens were arrested in their beds early the next morning. Later that morning Stevens admitted his involvement in the robbery, kidnapping and **rape** of Tolin and stated that Engle alone had committed the homicide (Parmenter: TT 664-69, 863-67, 877, 895-903; DRE4).

## **B. The Defendant's Case**<sup>12</sup>

1. **Deprived childhood.** Steven's mother, Gladys, ran away from home when she was 13, and married Stevens' father, Newt, who had **served** a penitentiary

---

<sup>12</sup>To present the extensive mitigating evidence most coherently, we have organized it (in the same order **used** in the court below) according to the various mitigating circumstances upon which we relied (and which, **with** one exception, Judge Weatherby determined that we had established).

sentence **in** Kentucky (Netherly: PCT 182; C. Stevens: T 550-51). Rufus, the eldest **of 12** children, was born when Gladys was 14. When he was only **six** days old, his parents hitchhiked in the sleet and rain from Kentucky to Ohio. As a result of that and similar treatment, Rufus had to be hospitalized when he was three months old (Netherly: PCT 181-82; DRE8).

Most **of** the time until he was five, Rufus lived with his maternal grandmother in Ohio, while his parents lived with other relatives and went back and forth between Kentucky and Ohio. At the age of five, his parents moved with him into a dilapidated chicken coop near his grandmother's house in Franklin, Ohio (Netherly: **PCT** 183-84). Rufus and his siblings often did not have sufficient **food**, largely because of **his** father's gambling (Netherly: PCT 187-88; R. Stevens: R **476**; C. Stevens: T 518). **Three of** Rufus' siblings died in infancy or early childhood, one of malnutrition (Netherly: **PCT** 186-88).

In Rufus' first year of school he smelled so badly and **was** so dirty that the teacher would not let the other children play with him. Understandably, this upset Rufus (Netherly: PCT 185). A teacher's **report** notes that Rufus came to school "very dirty most of the time" (DRE9 **4**). Throughout the years in Ohio the school authorities gave Rufus and his siblings enforced showers several times a week, haircuts and used clothing. None or next-to-none **of** the other families in the schools received such treatment (R. Stevens: R 477-78, 535-36, 539-40; C. Stevens: T 518-21).

On one occasion the welfare authorities in Ohio temporarily removed the three youngest children from the family home. When Rufus was about 15, his father **learned** that the welfare authorities were coming to take away all the children. **To** avoid that, the family **fled** to Kentucky in the middle of the night (Netherly: **PCT** 188-89; R. Stevens: R 480-81; C. Stevens: **T 522**).

In Kentucky the family lived in the shabbiest and filthiest house in the locality ---

a dozen people in two small rooms,<sup>13</sup> The outhouse was often filled with excrement to above the level of its seat (Netherly: PCT 193-94; Wagoner:<sup>14</sup> 439; R. Stevens: R 487-90, 537; C. Stevens: T 524; L. Stevens: R 569).

2. **Physically/psychologically abused as a child.** Particularly when he was drinking, Newt Stevens was a terribly brutal and violent father and Rufus, **the** eldest, received worse treatment than the other children. Beatings of the children and of Gladys --- with such objects as a board, a broom and a length of hose --- were a daily occurrence. One time the family dog was run over by a car. Although **Rufus** was not at fault, his father beat him *so* severely with a length of hose that Rufus could not sit down for several days. Another time Newt poured whiskey over Rufus' hands and set them on fire, causing painful burns. One time Newt pushed Robert out of a moving car **and** another time he poured **acid** on Robert's **leg**, leaving **scars** which Robert exhibited when he testified. The beatings were *so bad*<sup>15</sup> that Robert, when only seven, sought to escape them by hanging himself. If Gladys **tried** to intervene on behalf of the children, Newt would beat her also (R. Stevens: R 472-76, 479-80, 510-14; C. Stevens: T 514-17, 523, 545-46).

In Kentucky Newt and Gladys filled their house with guns<sup>16</sup> and **carried** them everywhere, even to church. Not only were guns a constant presence, but so **was** their

---

<sup>13</sup>In later years the house was expanded to three rooms, but sometimes **as many as 23** persons were living there (Netherly: PCT 193-94).

<sup>14</sup>**Roger** Wagoner is currently one of the seven county commissioners of Elliott County, Kentucky, where Rufus once lived and where his parents still reside (Wagoner: R 436-37).

"Robert **has** been told **by** doctors that his present total disability may have been caused in part by the severe beatings he received **as** a child (R. Stevens: R 469, 475).

"Clifford described his parents' involvement with guns **as** follows (T 523): "You can walk into my mommy and daddy's house right now -- and it's been this way **as** long **as** I can remember -- you can stand anywhere in that house, and if you **want** to reach and take hold of a **gun**, you can. ... **[T]hey** have enough guns to start a war, if they want to, on their own."

use. Newt shot and wounded Rufus twice. On the first Occasion, Newt shot Rufus in the back --- nearly killing him --- because Rufus, then aged 21, had moved to his aunt's house against his father's wishes. On the second occasion, Newt shot **Rufus** in the arm. On another occasion Newt and Gladys both fired guns at Rufus, hitting the **car** but narrowly missing him, as he drove by their house with two friends (Netherly: PCT 190-93; R. Stevens: R 481-85; C. Stevens: T 523, 525-28; DRE 11).

Rufus was by no means the only one shot at. Among other things, his parents, whom Robert stated "lived by the gun" (R 481), shot at each other on a number of occasions. Newt also shot at several of **his** other sons, doing so recently enough that Rufus' older son remembers one such incident. Newt also attacked various neighbors with gunfire and kept holes in the side of the house in case he was **attacked** by a neighboring family with whom he had a running feud (R. Stevens: R 481-83, 485-86; L. Stevens: R 574-75; C. Stevens: T 528-31, 549-50).

Newt also abused the children in other ways. In Ohio, he had the boys, from the age of four upward, climb trees around their house to keep a lookout for the police who might be coming to raid the poker game Newt ran. The boys worked in shifts, day and night, rain or shine. Many days of school were lost as a result (R. Stevens: R 470-71, 476-77; C. Stevens: T 513-14, 521).

Newt often kept the children from receiving medical care --- not out of poverty (for they had governmental medical coverage) but out of meanness. Rufus' school records show that, when he was seven, his teacher felt compelled to urge his parents to take Rufus to the doctor when he had trench mouth (DRE9 3). When Robert broke an ankle playing basketball, Newt would not let him **go** to the hospital for three days and beat him repeatedly because he was not able to **hoe** the cornfield fast enough. On the other hand, once when Newt was sick, the children had to stay in the chicken coop **so as** not to disturb their father (R. Stevens: R 496-98; C. Stevens: T 517-18).



The Stevens parents **also** exercised undue control over their adult children's lives, being particularly tough with Rufus. They insisted on adult children living in the parental home to increase the amount of food stamps the parents could collect. They **arranged** to have Rufus discharged from the Army after six months for the **same** reason. They interfered in and **arranged** marriages, including Rufus' first marriage to a 13- or 14-year-old. Newt would track his sons down if they left home and force them to return. When he was 18 or **20 years** old, Rufus was sometimes not even allowed to go **for** a walk simply because his parents insisted that he stay at home (Netherly: PCT 194-95; Wagoner: R 439-43; R. Stevens: R **490-93**; C. Stevens: T **531-34**).

3. **Learning disabled/lack of education.** From the time he first went to school, **Rufus** was a very poor student. It took him two years to complete each of the first, second and third grades. Rufus' last two years in Ohio were spent in special education classes --- his school transcript noting that he **was** doing fifth grade **work** at the **age** of 15. In Kentucky, he completed his education at the age of 18 **as** an ostensible eighth grader, although his grades were more failing than passing. **As** an adult he was often **turned** down for jobs because **of** his poor reading ability (DRE9; DRE10; Cobb: R **640**).

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