IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RUFUS STEVENS,

Appellant,

v.

CLERK, SURREME COURT

CLERK, SURREME COURT

CHARTON TO PRINT CLARK

CASE NO. 78,031

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT,

FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR DWAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARK C. MENSER Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 239161

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

outset, Engle and Stevens knew that the prospect of identification would compel elimination of the store clerk. This fact is evident from Stevens' own statements and the admissible portion of Nathan Hamilton's story.⁵

Even assuming Kathy Tolin did try to run for her **life** (brief, page 41), she was pursued and killed **to** eliminate her as a witness. (Why not let her *go* off into the woods otherwise?)

Witness elimination was clearly a dominant motive. Menendez v. State, 368 So.2d 1278 (Fla.1979) and was correctly applied. Adams v. State, 412 So.2d 850 (Fla.1982); Stevens v. State, supra.

(2) Pecuniary Gain

Mrs. Tolin was eliminated a3 a witness to facilitate the successfu completion of a robbery. This factor is analogous to the "pecuniary gain" finding in Johnson v. State, 438 So.2d 774 (Fla.1983); Menendez v. State, 419 So.2d 312 (Fla.1982) and Stewart v. State, supra. The mere presence of additional acts such as kidnapping and sexual battery do not reduce the applicability of this factor. Johnson, supra.

Stevens' brief suggests that if "pecuniary gain" is a "dominant" motive then "witness elimination" cannot apply (or vice versa). This is clearly not true. Parker v. State, 458 So.2d 750 (Fla.1984)(dope dealer kidnaps and murders victim to eliminate a witness and to enhance his drug business); Henry v.

We do not rely upon Hamilton's improper "additional" statement, regarding alleged comments by Stevens, that was disallowed an resentencing.

State, 16 F.L.W. S593 (Fla.1991)(store employee robs store and kills co-workers far pecuniary gain and to eliminate witnesses).

(3) Heinous-Atrocious-Cruel ("HAC")

The HAC factor was upheld by this Court in Stevens v. State, supra, and Stevens has not offered one shred of evidence to alter that finding. In fact, Stevens' entire argument consists of nothing more than his own theory of the facts, supplemented by authorities whose relevance is entirely contingent upon those facts.

As noted before, this Court has already rejected the "noninvolvement" defense, and there is no longer a viable "reasonable doubt" issue before this Court given the presence of a valid conviction.

The abduction, cape, mutilation, strangulation and stabbing of young Kathy Tolin inflicted such terror, pain and needless suffering as to clearly satisfy this factor. Quince v. State, 414 So.2d 185 (Fla.1982); Smith v. State, 424 So.2d 726 (Fla.1982); Randolph v. State, 562 So.2d 331 (Fla.1990). Indeed, we would suggest that this one factor more than outweighs any of the "mitigation" proffered by Stevens.

(4) Murder During Felony

Mr. Stevens did not challenge this factor.

Mr. Stevens alleges that the state, by not arguing "pecuniary gain" and "witness elimination" to the advisory jury at the original trial 6 , was estopped from arguing those factors

At (TR 1249) Mr. Austin, in addressing the jury, was running through the statutory aggravating factors and opined that "avoid arrest" only applies when "shooting at policeman" during an

at his original sentencing and on resentencing. Stevens calls this the "law of the case."

First and foremost, it should be noted that the prosecutor's argument did not prejudice Mr. Stevens. Stevens knew that the jury was still advised of these factors by the trial judge, and Stevens - courtesy of resentencing - had the 'ability to prepare any response to these factors he could. (Stevens also knew that these factors were upheld on appeal).

The only possible effect of this error by the prosecutor was to prevent the advisory jury from considering two perfectly valid statutory aggravating factors, Had these factors been added to the jury's equation, it is possible that a death recommendation would have resulted rather than the totally unreasonable (Stevens v. State, supra) life sentence it suggested.

In Hoffman v. State, 474 \$0.2d 1178 (Fla.1985) the trial court failed to instruct the advisory jury to consider a statutory aggravating factor which the court later relied upon at sentencing. There, as here, the defendant stated that this error precluded finding this aggravating factor. This Court rejected the claim stating that the judge's error did not in any way prejudice the defense.

Second, a prosecutor is not a judge and does not render judgments that bind the parties. Thus, "law of the case" cannot apply to a situatian such as this. The real issue is whether the

escape. Mr. Austin disavowed the "pecuniary gain' factor because he thought it doubled with the "robbery," not because it did not exist (TR 1250). The advisory jury was instructed to consider both factors anyway.

prosecutor's conduct induced the defendant to act, or not act, in reliance of same, to his actual prejudice. Again, **as** in Hoffman, there is no sign of prejudice in this case given the remand for resentencing.

We would also compare this case to Spaziano v. State, 433 So.2d 508 (Fla.1983), in which this Court found no error in the consideration of an "additional" aggravating factor in a remand (resentencing) proceeding when, in the first sentencing proceeding, the defendant had notice of the underlying facts. Additional aggravating factors were also permitted under the same or similar circumstances (facts in record) in Ferguson v. State, 474 So.2d 208 (1985) and in Mann v. State, 453 So.2d 784 (1984).

In Echols v. State, 484 So.2d 568 (Fla.1986) this Court considered an aggravating factor established by the record although not found by the trial judge, while in Dobbert v. Florida, 432 U.S. 282 (1977) the court held that a defendant could be subjected to a statutory aggravating factor that did not even exist at the time of his crime, though it was on the books by the time of his trial.

Given these authorities, a mere error by the prosecutor in arguing his case to the jury - which resulted in a life recommendation - clearly cannot preclude consideration of two valid aggravating factors during a defense-requested remand.

Mr. Stevens' brief raises two apparently unresearched claims. First, he alleges that Florida's HAC factor is unconstitutional under Maynard v. Cartwright, 486 U.S. 356 (1988). Maynard does not apply to Florida because we do not

utilize jury sentencing. Porter v. Dugger, 559 \$0.2d 201 (Fla.1990); Clark v. Dugger, 559 \$0.2d 192 (Fla.1990); Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir.1989).

His second argument, challenging the felony murder concept for failing to "narrow" the class of death eligible persons, is facially baseless. His citation to Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153 (1976) is misplaced since Gregg refers to Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976) and approves of Florida's statute. Proffitt, of course, repudiates Stevens' arguments in full.

(5) Conclusion

The aggravating factors upheld by this Court in Stevens' first appeal are still valid.

ARGUMENT: POINT IV

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO SUPPRESSION OF THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

Mr. Stevens suggests that even if various items of evidence were admissible in his original trial, subsequent (and selected) changes in constitutional law precluded their admission at his resentencing. In this way, Stevens hopes to avoid any "law of the case" problem arising out of Stevens v. State, 552 So.2d 1082 (Fla.1989) and sidestep the 1983 revision of Article I § 12 of the Florida Constitution, linking said Article to the Fourth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States.

We will dispose of Stevens' claims in order, but in doing so we do not agree that this issue is properly before the Court. A sentencing is qualitatively different from a trial even if similar in format. Spaziano v. State, supra. Stevens was

remanded for resentencing, not retrial. The operative facts, therefore, should be the facts gleaned from the trial record at the time, with Stevens' guilt presumed and established.

Stevens is guilty. Issues relating to his arrest or the voluntariness of his confession do not relate to any aggravating factor. If Stevens wanted to contest these factors as some sort of "mitigation," he possibly could have done so, but he did not. We submit, therefore, that the suppression issue was closed.

(1) Stevens' Voluntary Post-Arrest Statements

The State does not agree with the "operative facts" as egregiously restated by Mr. Stevens. This is an appeal, and all facts must be taken in favor of the judgment.

Lanny Isreal was arrested for DUI on March 19, 1979. Mr. Hamilton, also drunk, was a passenger in Isreal's car. Isreal told the police that Hamilton had information regarding Kathy Tolin's murder. (R 59-61).

Detective Parmenter attempted to interview Hamilton but Hamilton refused to talk out of fear for his family. (R 64). This fear was justified when the police went to Hamilton's trailer to rescue his family and found Rufus Stevens (known then only as "B") at her home. (R 66). To avoid trouble, the police lied to Stevens about a drug bust as an excuse to get the family out. (R 66). Hamilton was motivated to talk by the prospect of a reward, but no deals or threats were ever made. (R 486-487).

Based upon his investigation, Parmenter decided to arrest Engle and Stevens (who had now seen the police or could have been tipped off) before they could flee. The police went to Mr. Stevens' home where they were let in by a Mr. Custer. (R 72).

Stevens was arrested, given "Miranda" warnings, taken to police headquarters and given his rights again.

No matter the length of the form used, it is undisputed that Stevens was given his rights, understood them, signed the form and gave a free and voluntary statement. It is also undisputed that no portion of the so-called "Miranda" warning was absent from the "short form."

Mr. Stevens' argument constitutes much ado about nothing. Nonsense arguments about Hamilton's intoxication and the length of the Miranda form are a smokescreen designed to obfuscate the only relevant issue: whether Stevens was aware of and waived his "Miranda" rights, The answer to that question has not changed throughout all of Stevens' appeals. The answer is yes.

(A) The arrest was legal

Stevens was arrested in March 1979, a year before Payton v. New York, 455 U.S. 573 (1980) and in a manner that did not violate the "knock and announce" law. (§ 901.19, Fla. Stat.) The police did not kick in Stevens' door or force their way into his home. Custer let the police in. Since the police had consent to enter from a person with apparent authority, the "knock and announce" rule did not apply, essentially mooting this issue. Lewis v. State, 320 So.2d 435 (Fla.1975). If Parmenter did not have consent, it has never been shown that he knew it. Under both Florida and federal law as it existed at the time, Parmenter's good faith reliance upon Custer's consent precludes suppression. Moreno v. State, 277 So.2d 81 (Fla.1973); Rodriguez v. State, 189 So.2d 656 (1966); Jones v. State, 440 So.2d 570

(Fla.1983); Michigan v. De Fillippo, 443 U.S. 31 (1979); Massachusetts v. Sheppard, 468 U.S. 981 (1984).

Although Stevens was asleep, the police did not know that. All they knew was that Hamilton felt Stevens knew he would "snitch" and harm his family, a fact corroborated earlier that evening when Stevens was found at the Hamilton home when the police rescued the family. The police acted on what they knew. Even if they had no consent, their entry would have been reasonable. Moreno, supra; Jones, supra. (In Jones, the police got the defendant out of bed after entering his home in search of a sniper).

Mr. Stevens alleges that our pre-1983 exclusionary rule was absolute and inflexible, As we already know, this is an incorrect assumption. His cited cases of Grubbs v. State, 373 So.2d 905 (Fla.1979) and State v. Dodd, 419 So.2d 333 (Fla.1982) (applying the exclusionary rule to parole and probation proceedings) define Article I § 12 as "stronger" than its federal counterpart only by noting that our constitution actually spelled out an exclusionary rule while the federal constitution did not.

In **terms** of interpreting Article 1 § 12, however, Florida tracked federal law when interpreting **our** constitution even before the 1983 Amendment made such conduct mandatory. See generally Fla. **Canner's** Assoc. v. **Dept. of** Citrus, 371 So.2d 503 (Fla.2nd DCA 1978; Assoc. General Contractors v. Dade County, 723

As Judge Weatherby noted below, State v. Santamaria, 385 So.2d 1130 (Fla.1st DCA 1980) did not set a uniform two (2) hour limit on Jacksonville warrants. The two hour finding was the trial judge's assessment of the facts of that case.

F.2d 846 (11th Cir.1984); F.R.E.C. v. McGregor, 336 So.2d 1156 (Fla.1976). The decision in Odum v. State, 403 So.2d 936 (Fla.1981), like Sarmiento⁸ based its exception to the Fourth Amendment on specific provisions of Art. 1 § 12 relating to "communications" appearing in our constitution but not the federal constitution.

Again, however, this entire issue is moot. The police had **consent** to enter Stevens' home, and the nature of the arrest had no causal connection to Stevens' eventual, voluntary, post-Miranda statements.

Stevens also chooses this late date to question the probable cause for his arrest, citing "impeachment" evidence relating to Mr. Hamilton. (Brief, 74-76). "Probable Cause" does not mean "proof." Hamilton, for whatever reason, still gave Parmenter information that meshed with facts known to the investigator. Under the totality of the circumstances, the police had probable cause. Illinois v. Gates, 462 U.S. 213 (1983).

Judge Weatherby's decision not to reopen the case just because other "short forms" were located is of no consequence. Parmenter testified during the hearing that short forms were used in other cases and were going to replace the old "long" forms. (R 138-149). None of this smokescreen has anything to do with the fact that Stevens waived his Miranda rights and signed the form provided. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) does not dictate the use of any particular form.

⁸ State v. Sarmiento, 379 So.2d 643 (Fla.1981)

(2) Dr. Floro's testimony

If the state was so desperate as to suborn perjury it would:

- (1) Not have deviated from the autopsy report (4 cc's of blood) it handed counsel, and
- (2) It would not have had Dr. Floro testify to different amounts of blood in the Engle and Stevens cases.

If Dr. Floro was willing to risk prison and loss of his license by committing perjury, it is hoped that his "price" was greater than a nice "thank you" letter from Mr. Austin after the trial.

The simple truth is that either Dr. Floro erred in his testimony or the court reporters misunderstood his Filipino accent. Be that as it may, Dr. Floro's opinion remains unchanged even when only 4 cc's of blood are considered. (R 231-33, 288).

Judge Weatherby noted correctly that Dr. Flora's testimony was subject to possible impeachment (as inconsistent) but that did not subject the evidence to suppression.

That correct legal opinion forces Mr. Stevens back into the corner of accusing the state of suborning perjury. Again, however, Stevens scurrilous allegations are unsupported and essentially unresearched. Never did Stevens establish improper inducements by the prosecutor. Never did Stevens establish a motive for either the prosecutor to suborn perjury or Floro to accept the offer. Not once did Stevens offer evidence of

Oddly, if Dr. Floro did use the wrong amounts in two trials, facing two lawyers, no one ever cross-examined him about the discrepancy.

coaching. Nowhere was there proof of payment or consideration. Finally, as noted above, the state gave defense counsel the autopsy reports prior to trial. This Court has already determined that no one suborned perjury, and Stevens has failed to offer any new evidence.

The entire contention is just a desperate attempt to create an issue out of a perceived error in the transcripts.

(3) Statements of Engle

It is undisputed that defense counsel let these statements in as a matter of trial strategy. Defense counsel has no right to let evidence in for one strategic purpose and then, if he loses, demand suppression and a new trial. **Stevens v.** State, **552** So.2d 1082 (Fla.1982).

Finally, Stevens attacks Judge Weatherby, accusing him of not reading the entire record before ruling on the suppression issue. Nothing in this record indicates a lack of familiarity with any relevant portions of the transcripts which eventually were read in their entirety. There is no basis in fact or this record to show that the trial judge did not properly perform his role.

ARGUMENT: POINT V

IT IS SUGGESTED THAT MR. STEVENS' ATTACK UPON THE ASSISTANT STATE ATTORNEY IS NOT PROPERLY BEFORE THE COURT.

Any difficulty between Mr. Root and Mr. Batch should be resolved in another forum. No further response will be tendered by the State.

CONCLUSION

The sentence of death should be affirmed.